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ABOUT COVER PHOTO 

 

The cover image reflects the facilitation of accessible and widespread connectivity through various means. It showcases the use of a Global 

Maritime Distress and Safety System (GMDSS) Handheld Radio. This device makes communication while at sea possible and allows for ship 

to shore and ship to ship communication using terrestrial radio systems and digital selective calling technology. Additionally, with the push 

of a button, distress calls can be made to coastguard and other vessels with pertinent location and identification. 

 

The imagine also showcases a smartphone, used to communicate, and access information in various ways. It is the most widely used 

communication device in the 21st century. Using this device, communication occurs using public mobile telecommunications networks 

regulated by the Commission. This device is also used to access various high speed Wi-Fi spots across SVG that are open to the public 

and made available through the Commission. Additionally, the satellite phone seen in this image can be used in remote areas where 

terrestrial networks are not available or in extreme circumstances where a disaster has damaged terrestrial networks. 

 

As the name suggests, the phones connect to satellites in space and serve as a backup communication device for many.
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1. MISSION STATEMENT 
To facilitate quality, relevant, and affordable Telecommunications Services throughout St. Vincent 

and the Grenadines. 

 

 

2. VISION STATEMENT 
To ensure that the demand for existing and future Telecommunications Services is met, to support 

economic growth and diversification, by providing a suitable environment for the tourism, 

information and financial sectors through a liberalized and competitive Telecommunications 

environment. 

 

 

3. FUNCTIONS 
The National Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (NTRC) in collaboration with the Eastern 

Caribbean Telecommunications Authority (ECTEL) is responsible for carrying out a variety of 

functions that are associated with regulating the Telecommunications Sector in St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines. These functions are outlined in detail in the Telecommunications Act (CAP 418) of the 

Revised Laws of St. Vincent and the Grenadines 2009. 
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6.  SWOT ANALYSIS 
 

Strengths 

• Availability of sufficient ICT infrastructure and software to 

efficiently carry out the NTRC's regulatory functions.  

• Diversity of relevant skills and experience among current 

staff. 

• A balanced combination of experienced staff alongside 

young, innovative, and qualified interns. 

• Full complement of Commissioners with a wide cross 

section of skills and experience 

Weaknesses 

• Inadequate price control mechanisms for dominant 

suppliers of services specifically in areas of mobile, voice, 

data, Fixed Broadband and Cable TV retail rates.  

• Lack of regulatory oversight on promotional activities of 

mobile network operators. 

 

 

 

 

Opportunities 

• Ability to develop projects under the Universal Service 

Fund capable of reducing the digital divide that exists 

within our communities relating to data communication, 

knowledge sharing and access to local and regional 

content.  

• Ability to address some of the current regulatory 

legislative deficiencies with a new electronic 

communications act.   

•  Collaborate with central Government on the rollout out 

of the Digital Transformation project that will be utilizing 

the current and future broadband networks of our 

country. 

• Collaborate with the Ministry of Finance, Economic 

planning and Information Technology on seeking 

approval from the Cabinet on a new Broadband plan for 

St. Vincent and the Grenadines that can facilitate 

appropriate connectivity and other opportunities for all 

income groups. 

• Collaborate with CARDTP and the OECS Commission on 

developing a new cybersecurity policy for our country. 
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• Collaborate with central Government on the development 

of a virtual base national addressing system. 

Threats 

 

• The current duopoly market for most of our 

telecommunication services is not functioning in the best 

interests of consumers and our country.  

•  The recent deployment of low earth orbiting (LEO) 

satellite constellations that have the ability to compete 

with terrestrial service providers in delivering Broadband 

access directly to homes. Such services, if not properly 

licensed and regulated, could negatively affect the 

financial status of both the existing licensed service 

providers and our regulatory institutions across our sub 

region.  
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7. CRITICAL ISSUES 
 

Currently, there are five critical areas that need to be addressed in the sector: 

 

Cyber Security 

 

The NTRC recognizes that there is a need for increased 

capacity building and formal structures established where 

cyber security is concerned as we continue to increase our 

broadband penetration levels and speeds nationwide and 

across our CARICOM region.  

 

The NTRC is pleased to see this issue finally being addressed 

in a structured way under the CARDTP but also believes it has 

to have a multistakeholder approach that covers critical areas 

such as Education, Health and critical infrastructure etc. A clear 

national cybersecurity policy and strategy is key to success in 

this area which will also cover areas of data protection and 

privacy, etc. It is imperative that this process under the CARDTP 

will include the creation of a national level CSIRT if we are to 

seriously address the current and future Cyber security threats 

on our citizens, organizations, businesses and the 

Government.  

 

The role of cyber security is critical in building trust and 

confidence in a digital economy.  

Broadcast standards   

  

The absence of broadcast standards/legislation in our country 

as well as a regulatory agency for such a sector (NTRC does 

not have a legal mandate for content or programming 

matters) is providing a catalyst for social and moral decay in 

our society.  

 

 Data from our 2021 national ICT survey shows that 90% of 

Vincentians still listen to local radio as such this area can be 

targeted with a new regulatory framework.  We have to seize 
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the opportunity with the upcoming review of the regulatory 

framework under CarDTP to have ECTEL and the NTRCs cover 

other components of the sector, especially that of content and 

programming. We are not in a situation where we have 

another entity regulating content and want to merge with both 

institutions, but we have no one regulating content or 

programming.  

 
 

Broadband Penetration/Digital divide  

 

If the country is expected to compete on the global market, 

irrespective of the sectors targeted, it is critical that as a 

country, we focus on increasing the penetration levels of 

broadband access to consumers. Broadband is seen as an 

essential service globally which is comparable to that of 

electricity, telephone, and water. In relation to water and 

electricity St. Vincent and the Grenadines has a household 

penetration exceeding 90%.  In comparison, for fixed 

broadband, at the household level we are at about 62% 

penetration. Such a penetration rate of (62%) in electricity and 

water today is unimaginable, as such our broadband     

penetration levels must be increased such that it is comparable 

to that of our electricity and water penetration. We saw in 2020 

the impact of such a low penetration rate on the ability of some 

of our students to actively participate in online classes while 

face to face classes were suspended due to the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

 

 It is imperative that the Government formalize a National 

Broadband Policy via a national broadband plan that can be 

used to decrease the digital divide that exists among our 

households.  

 

Consistent Connectivity  
 

While St. Vincent and the Grenadines (SVG) like the rest of the 

ECTEL states has achieved a high penetration rate of mobile 

phones with SVG having a penetration rate of 94% of which 

82 % are smartphones we have a serious issue with consistent 

connectivity. While the developed countries are mainly 

postpaid, which in itself results in those customers being 

connected automatically with daily data access, this is not the 

case in our region. In SVG 90% of our mobile customers are 

prepaid.  The issue that we have found from our data collection 
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is that only 66% of these prepaid customers (who make up the 

majority of our population) maintain a regular data plan. In 

short, we can easily say that 1/3 of our population on any given 

day do not have data access on their phones. When we 

consider this statistic with the fact that fixed residential 

broadband penetration is at 70% it can easily be deduced that 

a large portion of our population does not have internet access 

on a regular basis at home or on the go.   Without consistent 

internet access to the internet feeds our digital divide and 

reduces the ability of our citizens to properly partake in our 

growing Digital economy.  

 

The main contributor to the above is the service providers 

policy of selling data packages in day formats (1 day, 3-day, 7 

day and 30-day packages) only as compared to selling data in 

amounts (1 GB, 5 GB etc.)  that will expire say a minimum of 30 

days after purchase. If data is sold in amounts as is done in 

several African countries (large prepaid markets as well) this 

will allow persons to utilize the data as they can afford and 

allow for consistent connectivity. In the current status quo it 

would be difficult for a user to use all the data assigned in a 1 

day or 3-day plan within the time allocated. This situation can 

be easily fixed in the ECTEL member states with regulations 

that will require data packages to have a minimum expiry date 

of 30 days.  

 

Digital Transformation  
 

Several countries within the OECS including St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines have embarked on several initiatives geared towards 

the transformation of their societies via digital technologies. Of 

specific relevance is the new Caribbean Digital Transformation 

Project   funded by the World Bank which commenced in 2020 

and will close in June 2026.  This project will touch on many 

aspects of the pillars of our economy including innovation, 

investment, digital financial services, e-commerce   etc.  While the 

project touches on many important areas both nationally and 

regionally, it is missing a very critical component which if left 

unaddressed   would hamper the success of this project and 

others to come.  This is the lack of a national addressing system 

in St. Vincent and the Grenadines and other states of the OECS. 

It is the main reason why there is very little domestic ecommerce 

in our islands. It is also the reason why there are delays in delivery 

of goods and services at the domestic level which affects 

productivity and can have life threatening implications where the 

police, fire and health officials can be delayed in responding to 
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emergencies.  A 911 system cannot properly function without a 

national addressing system.  

 

The Government should seek to address this issue preferably on 

the regional level via a virtual base national addressing system.  

The NTRC has developed a prototype of such a system in 2023 

which we would like to see rolled out at the national and OECS 

level.  
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8. SECTOR REVIEW  
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2023 Financial Data Review 

Total Telecom Revenue 2023 
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Revenue of the NTRC and ECTEL for the period 2002 to 2023 

 

Frequency fees are shared between the NTRC and ECTEL. In 2023, frequency fees collected increased by 28% compared to 2022. In 2022, 

the NTRC collected $2,911,638.53 while in 2023, $3,721,857.06 were received as receivables of $520,486.41 from 2022 were settled during 

the year. 

 

 

 
Figure 1 Frequency Fees 2017 - 2023 
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For application fees, in 2023, there was a 38% reduction compared to 2022. The NTRC collected $43,093.21 in 2022 and $26,587.95 in 

2023. In 2022, a higher revenue was received as the application fees for the licensing of 81 new VHF radios for fishermen were covered by 

the Food and Agriculture Organization Sub-Regional Office for the Caribbean. 

 

 

 
Figure 2 Application Fees 2017 – 2023 
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Licence fees received by the Government for the period 2002 to 2023. 
 

There was a 2% increase in revenue for licence fees collected by the NTRC on behalf of the Government in 2023 compared to 2022. In 

2022, $3,927,195.01 was collected while in 2023, the NTRC received $4,020,592.68. While the annual licence fees for two 

Telecommunications providers were not paid by year end, outstanding fees for 2022 amounting to $142,733, were received in 2023. 

Additionally, higher licence fees in total were received from Telecommunications providers in 2023 due to a higher revenue reported 

compared to 2022. 

 

 

Figure 3 License Fees collected by Government. (2017 – 2023)
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Financial Performance of the NTRC 
 

A. Revenue 

The NTRC’s projected revenue for the year ending 

December 31, 2023 was $1,741,889.22 while 

$1,760,426.58 was collected. In addition to this, 

receivables from 2022, amounting to $51,643.39 was 

also received. 

 

B. Expenditure 

i. Recurrent 

For the year ending December 31, 2023, the NTRC had 

projected to spend $1,650,864.15 on recurrent 

expenditure; however, $1,651,140.92 was spent. At the 

end of December 2023, the NTRC had accrued 

expenses amounting to $35,561.76. 

ii. Capital 

The amount of $171,085.00 was budgeted for capital 

expenditure for the financial year 2023, while 

$170,544.47 was spent. 

 

C. Conclusion 

 

The NTRC’s financial performance over the 2023 

financial year was satisfactory. 

 

D. Special Projects 

 

A total of $800,000.00 has been paid on the cost of the Layne’s 

property in 2023. This was covered by the $300,000.00 received 

from the Government as well as $500,000.00 from the Bank 

loan. As it relates to renovations, the NTRC has spent a total of 

$415,479.90 in 2023. Due to delays, renovations are expected to 

be completed within the first quarter of 2024. 

 

The Government provided funding of $500,000.00 for the 

expansion of the USF internet network coverage. To date, 

$430,293.06 was spent and a balance of $69,706.94 remains to 

cover the installations to be completed within the first quarter of 

2024. 
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Projected Spectrum Revenue for 2024 

 

For the fiscal year 2024, the NTRC expects that the projected 

spectrum revenue will marginally reduce by $8,785.00 (0.27%) 

from $3,276,645.00 projected in 2023 to $3,267,860.00 

projected for 2024. 

 

 

9. Human Resource 

Development for 2023 
 

The NTRC continues to expose its staff and Commissioners to 

relevant courses and seminars that would benefit the organization 

both in the short and long-term considering the limited resources 

available.  

The areas covered during 2023 were as follows:  

 

• BSc. Management Studies (Human Resource 

Management). This program is being done online via UWI 

Open Campus St. Vincent and the Grenadines. 

 

• BSc. Management Studies (Marketing). This program is 

being done online via UWI Open Campus St. Vincent and 

the Grenadines. 

 

• RF and Microwave Interference Analysis Certification 

Training Course. This training was conducted in Miami. 

 

• Policy Making with Big Data Analytics. This training was 

done online with Carnegie Mellon University (USA). 

 

• MSc. Information Security and Digital Forensics. This 

program is being done online via the University of East 

London. 

 

• 8th ECTEL/NTRC ADMINISTRATIVE WORKSHOP. This 

workshop was held in St. Lucia. 

 

• Certificate in FinTech for Finance and Business Leaders 

(CertFinTech).  This training was conducted online with 

ACCA in partnership with Accounting CPD. 
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• Organizational Analysis. This training was done online via 

Coursera.  

 

• IBM Data Analytics with Excel and R. This training was done 

online via Coursera.   

 

• Graphic Design Elements for Non-Designers Specialization. 

This training was done online via Coursera. 

• Excel Skills for Business Specilization. This training was done 

online via Coursera.   

• Google IT Automation with Python Professional Certificate. 

This training was done online via Coursera.   

• Machine Learning Specialization. This training was done 

online via Coursera.  

•  Web applications for everybody specialization. This 

training was done online via Coursera.  

• Meta React Native Specialization. This training was done 

online via Coursera.  

 

10. Legislation  
  

EASTERN CARIBBEAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY 

BILL 2023 - The Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications 

Authority Bill No. 21 of 2023 was passed on October 3, 2023. 

11. Staff 
In 2023, the NTRC hired a new Universal Service Fund 

Administrator, Ms. Descilla Samuel. Also in 2023, the following 

persons were recognized for their years of service to the 

organization: 

o Ms. Nadine Hull, Spectrum Manager for twenty (20) 

years of service. 

o Ms. Shonden Baptiste, Administrative officer for ten 

(10) years of service. 

o Mr. Marcellus Constance, Technical Operations 

Manager for ten (10) years of service. 
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12. Spectrum Management 
The NTRC continued to conduct its weekly spectrum monitoring 

activities in the year 2023.  This was done via the use of a mobile 

spectrum monitoring equipment at various locations around St. 

Vincent & the Grenadines. Additionally, the NTRC continues to 

utilize the remote spectrum monitoring probes located at Union 

Island and Bequia to remotely monitor the spectrum in the 

Grenadines.  Also, during the year, the NTRC started accepting type 

approval applications on the ECTEL / NTRC / Spectrum Center 

applications portal.  Work continues on the development of the 

platform for the automation of the licence and frequency 

authorization application process. In September 2023, two 

representatives of the NTRC participated in a 3-day certification 

course in Miami on Radio Frequency (RF) and Microwave 

Interference Analysis. The course delved into the fundamentals of 

spectrum analysis, with a sharp focus on the art of radio frequency 

interference hunting and finding. Participants of the course, which 

also included technical representatives from NTRCs and ECTEL 

learned how to make critical RF measurements and use them to 

identify and pinpoint interfering signals. The information gathered 

in the training will better equip the skillset to handle cases of 

harmful interference. 

 

13. Cellular Sites 
Figure 4 shows the number of LTE cellular sites in St. Vincent and 

the Grenadines. A total of 7 new cellular sites were approved for 

Public Mobile Operators in 2023. Cable and Wireless was granted 

approval for 1 new mobile site at Massy Stores Arnos Vale while 

Digicel was granted approval of 6 additional sites (Ashton, Enhams, 

Georgetown, Green Hill, Buccament and Vermont). The addition of 

these sites brings a total of 44 sites for Cable and Wireless and 56 

for Digicel. While the mobile operators were granted new sites in 

2023, there is still a need for additional sites to provide coverage in 

areas along the main roads of the Windward and Leeward 

Highways that have little to no coverage.  
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Figure 4 Cell Sites in St. Vincent and the Grenadines 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

21 

14. Internet Access 
 

As of December 2023, the total number of Fixed internet 

subscribers in St. Vincent and the Grenadines was Thirty 

Thousand Eight Hundred and Ninety-Seven (30,897). This 

figure shows a 4.42% increase over the number of 

subscribers in 2022. In addition, the NTRC commissioned 

the Online 24/7 Project in October 2023. This project is 

providing internet access to locations such as community 

centers, playing fields, non-governmental organizations, 

and tourism sites which will improve telecommunication 

across St. Vincent and the Grenadines. More information on 

the projects can be found in the USF 2023 Annual Report. 

15.  Public Consultations   
 

The NTRC conducted public consultations in 2023 based on a 

recommendation from the Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications 

Authority (ECTEL) to consult on the following regulatory 

instruments in the ECTEL Member States: 

 

1. Revised and Updated Electronic Communications (Quality 

of Service) Regulations of the ECTEL Member States – The 

objective of the consultation was to gather the views of 

stakeholders as it relates to: 

• The revised and updated Electronic Communications 

(Quality of Service) Regulations which was created to 

address the myriad of complaints from retail consumers 

and to strengthen the monitoring and enforcement 

functions of the National Telecommunications Regulatory 

Commission (‘Commission’) in all the ECTEL member states. 

 

 

16. Public Awareness 
 

      In 2023, the NTRC executed several public awareness 

initiatives.  
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1. icode784 competition 

 

On Wednesday, September 13, 2023, the NTRC initiated its 11th 

iCode784 competition. The launch began with the conclusion 

of a video contest, where participant Mr. Bradley Alexander 

secured a brand-new HP Laptop from NTRC as the winner, 

earning the most likes on his video submission promoting the 

iCode784 competition. The iCode784 competition event served 

as a platform challenging students to conceive and present 

projects in the form of ideas and/or mobile applications, 

targeting both the public and private sectors of St. Vincent and 

the Grenadines. The overarching goal was to contribute to our 

country's progress in achieving the targets outlined in the UN 

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). After the competition 

launch, a total of Fifty-Two (52) entries were submitted in 2023, 

in contrast to Fifty-Seven (57) entries in the 2022 competition. 

The Secondary Idea Category garnered participation from 

Twenty-Two (22) groups, while the Secondary Mobile 

Application Category had Twenty (20) groups, and the Open 

Category, catering to individuals under the age of thirty-five 

(35) years, received Ten (10) entries. 

 

The Preliminary Judging round took place on October 24-25, 

2023, during which the groups presented their projects via 

video submissions to a panel of judges. The Grand Finale, 

marking the conclusion of the competition, occurred on 

November 15, 2023. In the Open category, Team E-tech 

members Ansonique Cuffy and Nicholai Williams emerged as 

winners, earning a trip to attend the 4yfn (Four Years From 

Now) forum for tech startups scheduled to be held in 

Barcelona, Spain, in March 2024. 

The primary objective of the iCode784 competition is to 

motivate young individuals to actively participate in the 

software industry, an area where our Caribbean civilization is 

currently falling behind. Notably, the current global software 

and services industry boasts a market size of US474 billion and 

is projected to witness an 11% annual growth until 2030. 

 

2. Financial Assistance Program  

 

In 2017, the NTRC established an annual program offering 

financial support to a single Primary school student and one 

Secondary school student. This initiative persisted for its 

seventh consecutive year, and in a notable development in 

2023, three primary school students received $1000 each, while 

three secondary school students received $1500 each for their 

educational expenses during the 2023/2024 academic year. 
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The program is inclusive, targeting students across all schools 

in St. Vincent and the Grenadines. 

 

To identify eligible recipients, letters were dispatched to all 

Primary and Secondary schools, prompting principals to submit 

names of qualifying students along with reasons justifying their 

consideration for assistance. Consequently, the NTRC selected 

students deemed to be in the greatest need, aligning with the 

program's objectives. The financial assistance initiative is slated 

to continue into the foreseeable future, with plans underway to 

expand the number of recipients. 

 

3. The NTRC’s MyApp Summer Program 

 

In 2023, the Commission organized the MyApp summer 

program at two distinct locations: the Bequia Anglican School 

from July 17 to August 4, 2023, and the St. Vincent Grammar 

School from July 31 to August 18, 2023. The program engaged 

twenty-eight (28) students at the St. Vincent Grammar School 

and sixteen (16) students in Bequia. Aimed at students aged 13-

18, these yearly summer programs provide participants with 

opportunities to explore and develop skills in coding (software) 

and robotics. 

 

4. Radio and Interview Sessions 

 

Interviews for both radio and television were held at the Agency 

for Public Information (API), Xtreme FM, WE FM, and Boom FM. 

These interviews served as a promotional strategy to 

disseminate information to the public about the ongoing 

initiatives by the NTRC, including the 2023 iCode784 

competition and the MyApp Summer Program. 

 

5. Social media Campaign 

In order to broaden our outreach, the NTRC interacted with the 

public through Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram, offering 

information about our organization. This approach has not only 

fostered public engagement but has also led to an increased 

presence and interaction on these social media platforms. 

 

6. Global Maritime Distress and Safety System (GMDSS) 

Training Sessions  

 

The commission collaborated with the St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines Coast Guard Services to maintain the organization of 

GMDSS Radio Training Sessions for fishermen and individuals 

engaged in maritime activities throughout St. Vincent & the 
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Grenadines. These training sessions aimed to educate participants 

about the GMDSS system, implemented by the NTRC to facilitate 

both emergency and non-emergency communications at sea. 

Practical demonstrations were conducted to guide individuals on 

the utilization of handheld GMDSS radios, equipped with essential 

features for communication with the GMDSS system and ships. 

 

The community training session took place at the Barrouallie 

Government School, where, following the session, a complimentary 

GMDSS radio was raffled among the attendees. In addition to these 

community sessions, the Commission also conducts training at 

various Police Stations across the island. 

 

7. School Visits 

In order to boost the number of entries for the eleventh 

annual iCode784 competition, the Public Awareness 

Committee visited several secondary schools that had not 

participated in the competition since its inception, as well 

as schools that had not been involved for numerous years. 

The presentations during these school events focused on 

the NTRC's iCode784 competition throughout the years, 

highlighting the various phases of the competition, 

providing guidance on how to register, and emphasizing 

the rewards associated with participating in the 

competition.   

17. Universal Service Fund 
The Universal Service Fund (USF) was established under Section 42 

of Telecommunications Act (Cap 418) of the Revised Laws of St. 

Vincent and the Grenadines 2009. The Fund is managed by the 

NTRC which collects, disburses, and makes relevant decisions with 

regards to the proper and effective management of the Fund. The 

fund is used by the NTRC to compensate any telecommunications 

provider that is required to provide or promote Universal Service. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Universal Service Fund 

projected to receive a total of Two Million Five Hundred and Fifty-

Three Thousand, Two Hundred and Forty-Three Dollars and 

Seventy Cents ($2,553,243.70) from Telecommunications Service 

Providers. A total of Two Million Four Hundred and Ninety-Seven 

Thousand, Five Hundred and Forty-Two Dollars and Fifty-One 

Cents ($2,497,542.51) was collected. A further One Hundred and 

Nineteen Thousand Three Hundred and Eight Dollars and Forty-

One Cents ($119,308.41) was due to be collected from two 
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Telecommunications Providers for 2023 which is expected to be 

collected within the first quarter of 2024.   

USF monitoring was conducted at the various sites across St. 

Vincent and the Grenadines under the five USF projects to ensure 

that the equipment and services were in place and operational at 

the various facilities.  

The following gives an update of the projects currently being 

implemented under the USF: 

Payphone Project 

This project was signed with Cable and Wireless in 2011, at a cost 

of One Million, Four Hundred Thousand, Five Hundred and 

Seventy-Five Dollars (EC$1,400,575). As part of this endeavor, 

twenty-five (25) payphones were strategically deployed at diverse 

locations throughout SVG, encompassing tourism sites, beaches, 

and key points along the main roads for public accessibility. Upon 

the completion of the payphone project in December 2021, the 

internet service, originally incorporated within the payphone 

framework, was transitioned to the Online 24/7 project. The 

surveillance cameras installed as part of the payphone initiative 

were retained. Facing persistent maintenance challenges, the NTRC 

has decided to discontinue the upkeep of payphones, leading to 

the removal of all payphones by December 2023.  

Schools’ Project 

The schools’ project was first signed on June 7th, 2011, which saw 

all 107 schools throughout St. Vincent and the Grenadines given 

wireless internal and external internet access points with minimum 

speeds of 8Mbps download and 2Mbps upload. This original 

contract came to an end and a new contract for this project was 

signed on October 23rd, 2019, for a total of Two Million Five 

Hundred and Fifty-One Thousand and Fifty-Four Dollars and 

Eighty-Seven Cents (EC$2,551,054.87).  Under the current project, 

speeds of 100 Mbps download and 15 Mbps upload are provided. 

The project will run for five years and would come to an end on 

October 22nd, 2024. In 2022, the NTRC identified that most of the 

schools experienced internet connectivity issues due to older 

model access points that were installed from the first project, no 

longer functioning optimally due to firmware updates.  As such the 

NTRC procured 200 new access points in 2022 to alleviate this 

issue. All access points have since been installed. Commissioning of 

this component is expected to take place by the end of the first 

quarter of 2024.  
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Maritime Project 

This project was implemented to provide access to both 

emergency and non-emergency communications in the Exclusive 

Economic Zone (EEZ) of St Vincent and the Grenadines and saw 

the implementation of a Global Maritime Distress and Safety 

System (GMDSS) in St. Vincent and the Grenadines at a total cost 

of One Million, One Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand, Seven 

Hundred and Eighty Dollars (EC$1,125,780) and was maintained for 

a period of five years. This project was retendered in 2017 and a 

new contract was signed on March 8th, 2019, for a period of five 

years for a total cost of Five Hundred and Ninety-One Thousand, 

Eight Hundred and Forty Dollars and Sixty-Five Cents ($591,840.65). 

GMDSS Expansion Project in Jerome Union Island 

The objective of the project is to expand the coverage of the 

GMDSS. The GMDSS coverage was previously limited to the 

Mainland and the Northern Grenadines as there is only one 

transmission site located at Mount St. Andrew. The contract for the 

project was signed on May 17, 2022, between Cable & Wireless and 

the NTRC at a cost of Four Hundred and Forty-Eighty Thousand, 

and Seventy-One Dollars and Eighty-One Cents ($448,071.81) for 

the capital items for the project, while the cost of the maintenance 

of the project amounted to One Hundred and Sixty-Six Thousand, 

Four Hundred and Nineteen Dollars and Ninety-Two Cents 

($166,419.92). Installation work for the GMDSS expansion project 

was completed in November 2023. Commissioning of this project 

is expected to take place after the training is completed. 

Police and Health Center Project 

This project was initially signed on November 1, 2012, and it 

provided wireless internet access at all twenty-nine (29) Police 

Stations and forty-two (42) Health Centers throughout St. Vincent 

and the Grenadines at a minimum speed of 8 Mbps.  The cost of 

this project was Seven Hundred and Eleven Thousand, and Fifteen 

Dollars (EC$711,015). This project came to an end in June 2017 and 

a new contract was signed on May 14, 2019. The contract for the 

second project was Five Hundred and Forty-One Thousand, Three 

Hundred and Forty Dollars ($541,340.00) and ended in October 

2021. Under this project, thirty (30) police stations and forty-four 

(44) health centres are provided with internet at speeds of 100Mbps 

download and 5Mbps upload. The project was retendered in July 

2022 and will cater for improved coverage and faster speeds. 

During the year 2023, the scope of works for this project was 
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revised and the subsidy applications submitted by Cable & Wireless 

were negotiated and agreed at the cost of One Million Two 

Hundred & Fifty-Eight Thousand Two Hundred & Six Dollars and 

Thirty-One Cenct ($1,258,206.31) in the final quarter of 2023. Under 

the new contract, police and health centres will benefit from faster 

speeds of 350Mbps download and 50Mbps upload for years 1-2 of 

the contract and 500Mbps download and 100Mbps upload for 

years 3-5 of the contract.  

SMART Project 

The first contract for this project was signed on November 20th, 

2012, at a total cost of One Million, Six Hundred and Ninety-Eight 

Thousand, Nine Hundred and Ninety-Four Dollars (EC$1,698,994) 

for the supply of equipment and teaching aids at the St. Vincent 

and the Grenadines Community College (SVGCC) to enable them 

to offer specialized ICT training. This five-year project was 

commissioned on September 25th, 2014, and came to an end on 

September 24th, 2019. The project was retendered on July 24th, 

2019, and the NTRC subsequently entered into a contract with 

Cable and Wireless on March 26th, 2020.  

 Under the new project, the NTRC provides financial aid to the 

Cyber Security Programme offered at the St. Vincent Community 

College of which seven (7) students graduated in June 2023. The 

provision of access to subsidized internet at a cost of ten dollars 

per month is another component of this project. In 2022, a target 

was set to connect 160 households in 2023. This target was not met 

as only eighty-nine applications were received and seventy-Six (76) 

persons were approved and sent to C&W for connection of internet 

service. Under this project, six-Hundred and Forty (640) computers 

will be disbursed to various schools throughout St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines over the 5 years of the contract. In December 2022, a 

total of seventy-eight computers were purchased and distributed 

in 2023 to eight (8) schools. Sixty-seven (67) computers were 

purchased at the end of 2023 for donation to more schools. 

Online 24/7 Project 

The Online 24/7 project is a new project that replaces the 

community access project and the payphone project. Four lots of 

this project were tendered in February 2022 however, the 

Commission decided to proceed with Lot 1 and Lot 4 of the project 

only. Lot 1 saw the continued provision of wireless internet access 

at 120 existing locations throughout the urban and rural areas of 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

28 

St. Vincent and the Grenadines. It also provided internet service to 

new locations and high traffic locations, NGOs, playing fields and 

hard courts with minimum speeds of 250Mbps download and 

50Mbps upload in Year 1-2 then 300Mbps download and 100 Mbps 

upload from Year 3 – 5. Lot 4 of this contract comprises of two 

components.  

1. The provision of high-speed internet connection at the St. 

Vincent Community College with minimum speeds of 500 Mbps 

download and 300 Mbps upload for the first 2 years and 1 Gbps 

download and 700mbps upload for the last 3 years of the project 

and; 

2. The provision of fifty (50) Internal Access Points 

The contract for the project was signed on July 18, 2022, between 

Digicel SVG Limited and the NTRC in the amount of Four Million, 

Three Hundred and Twenty- Six Thousand Three Hundred and 

Sixty-Three Dollars and Five Cents ($4,326,363.05), however an 

addendum was added in 2023 to include internet service to the two 

new vegetable markets and two weather stations. The project was 

commissioned at the end of October 2023.  
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18. Statistics
 

The NTRC continued in 2023 with the provisioning of statistical data from the Telecommunications sector to several local, regional, and 

international entities. The following graphs depict some of the more relevant information on the sector while detailed information can be 

found on table 6 on pages 53-54, which gives a thorough overview of customer data supplied by Telecommunications Providers. 

 

 

Figure 5 Fixed Line Rates to USA 

Figure 5 shows that Columbus Communications and Cable 

and Wireless fixed line rates to the USA remained 

unchanged. 

 

 

Figure 6 Mobile Rates to USA 

Figure 6 shows that Digicel and Cable & Wireless’s USA mobile rates 

remained unchanged. 
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The domestic rates in Figure 7 are the daytime rates for calls made to 

customers on the same network.  

 
 

The international rates in Figure 8 are the fixed line daytime rates for 

calls to the USA for providers. Columbus Communications, Digicel SVG 

Limited and Cable and Wireless rates remained unchanged in 2023.  

 

Figure 7 Domestic on Network Rates 

 

 

Figure 8 Daytime Rates to USA 
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Figure 9 shows Cable & Wireless’ and Columbus Communications 

fixed line to mobile rates for 2017 to 2023. Cable & Wireless and 

Columbus Communications rates remained unchanged in 2023.  

 

 

Figure 9 Fixed Line to Mobile Rates 
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Figure 10 shows the number of mobile subscribers for 2023.  It is noted 

that both Digicel SVG Limited and Cable & Wireless’ mobile 

subscribers increased in 2023. 

 
 

Figure 11 shows the percentage of population with a mobile 

subscription from 2017 to 2023. For 2023 we see that there was a slight 

decrease in the number of mobile subscriptions. 

 

 

Figure 10 Mobile Subscribers 2023 

 

 

 

Figure 11 Percentage of Population with a Mobile Subscription 
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Figure 12 shows a comparison of the total Mobile Data Subscribers for 

Cable & Wireless and Digicel.  

 
 

Figure 13 shows a slight increase in mobile data penetration when 

compared to 2022, however, it is still lower than the spike observed in 

2021 during the period of the COVID-19 pandemic.   

 

Figure 12 Mobile Data Subscribers 2023 

 

Figure 13 Percentage of Population with Mobile Data Subscription 
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Figure 14 shows the total number of Fixed Line Subscribers. As Cable 

and Wireless completes its migration of its fixed line customers to 

Columbus communications in 2023 this total will represent only one 

provider.  

 

 
 

Figure 15 shows the Percentage of Households with Fixed Line 

Subscriptions. In 2023 we note that fixed line penetration remained 

constant.  

 

 

Figure 14 Fixed Line Subscribers 2023 

 

 

 

Figure 15 Percentage of Households with Fixed Line Subscriptions  
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Figure 16 shows the number of Fixed Broadband Internet Subscribers. 

There is a further decline in Cable and Wireless broadband subscribers 

in 2023, as they continue to migrate customers to Columbus 

Communications network. 

 

 

 
 

Figure 17 shows the Percentage of Households with Broadband 

Subscription. In 2023, there was an increase in the percentage of 

households with a broadband subscription.  

 

 

Figure 16 Broadband Subscribers 2023 

 

 

 

Figure 17 Percentage of Households with Broadband Subscription 
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Figure 18 shows the Cable TV subscribers for 2023. 

 

 

 

 
Figure 19 illustrates the percentage of households with a cable tv 

subscription. In 2023 we note that the Cable TV penetration remained 

constant. 

  

 

Figure 18 Cable TV Subscribers 2023 

 

 

Figure 19 Percentage of Households with Cable TV Subscriptions  
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Figure 20 shows the total traffic consumed at the Meraki Access Points 

placed at schools under the USF funded Schools project across St. 

Vincent and the Grenadines. 

 

 

 

 
Figure 21 illustrates that the most traffic consumed in 2023 was by 

Android devices with 1062.94 TB. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 20 Traffic consumed at NTRC WIFI Access Points at Schools 

 

 

Figure 21 Traffic consumed by Operating System. 

 

1774.01 TB 
Total Schools 

Wi-Fi Traffic 

Average Traffic 

 

Daily: 4.6 TB 

Weekly: 21.9 TB 

Monthly: 48.3 TB 
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Figure 22 shows the top applications for which traffic was exchanged 

in 2023. 
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19. Licensing  
 

The NTRC continued in 2023 to facilitate the application process 

for new licencees under the Telecommunications Act (CAP 418) of 

the Revised Laws of St. Vincent and the Grenadines 2009. 

Applications for Individual licencees were forwarded to ECTEL for 

evaluation while those for Class licences were evaluated by the 

NTRC. The NTRC also evaluated and made recommendations to 

the Minister on several frequency applications.  

 
 
Figure 23 Licenses Processed in 2023 

 

 
Figure 24 Class Licenses Processed in 2023
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Figure 25 Misc. Licenses Processed in 2023 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 26 Individual Licenses Processed in 2023 
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20. RESULT INDICATORS 2023
 

1. To execute the 11th annual NTRC’s Icode784 competition 

(formerly i2 Competition). 

 

This objective was completed. The competition was 

launched on September 13, 2023. The preliminary judging 

was held October 24-25, 2023, and the finals were held on 

November 15, 2023, at the Kingstown Baptist Church. For 

2023 there were a total of 52 entries with 29 teams 

advancing to the finals. In 2022 there were a total of fifty-

seven (57) teams that entered the competition compared 

to twenty-three (23) in 2021. The winners of the Open 

category were Team E-tech members: Ansonique Cuffy 

and Nicholai Williams who received a trip to attend the 4yfn 

(Four Years from Now) forum for tech startups to be held 

in Barcelona Spain in March 2024. The main aim of the 

icode784 competition is to inspire our youths to become 

involved in the software industry. An area that our 

Caribbean civilization is currently lacking behind.  The 

current global software and services industry has a market 

size of US474 billion and is projected to grow by 11% per 

year until 2030. 

2. Sensitize the public regarding the provisions of the new 

Electronic Communications Act. 

This is incomplete as the act has not been proclaimed as 

yet. 

3. Complete the implementation of the Online 24/7 project 

which comprises of two lots.  Lot 1 covers the provision of 

free wireless internet access at community centers, learning 

resource centers, playing fields and hard courts, tourism 

sites and NGOs, and lot 2 covers the provision of a high-

speed internet connection at the St. Vincent Community 

College Glen Campus as well as, the purchasing of 200 

internal access points. 

 

Implementation of the Online 24/7 Project is now complete. 

Under Lot 1 of this project, thirteen (13) learning resource 

centers, twenty-three (23) community centers, five (5) 

libraries, twenty-two (22) playing fields/hard courts, twenty-

one (21) tourism sites, eight (8) fish markets, four (4) 

Grenadine Ports, ten (10) schools, sixteen (16) NGOs and 
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five (5) government locations were connected with Wi-Fi 

internet access via high-speed fiber connections of 

250MBps.  Under this project, four lots were put out to 

tender and lots 1 and 4 were executed. Under Lot 1, the 

provision of internet service and new access points to offer 

open Wi-Fi access at 120 locations across St. Vincent and 

the Grenadines was implemented. Under lot 4, the 

provision of a high-speed internet connection at SVGCC 

Glen Campus was completed. This fiber connection is being 

supplied by Digicel and is at 500Mbps download and 

300Mbps upload which will increase to 1 Gbps download 

and 700 Mbps upload in year three of the project. It 

complements the existing 100Mbps symmetrical (same 

download and upload speeds) fiber connection being 

provided by Cable & Wireless under our existing schools 

project at this location.  The purchase of 200 internal access 

points was also completed. These 200 access points were 

also be installed in various schools in 2023. Some were used 

to replace existing access points that had reached the end 

of life while others were used to provide improved 

coverage in the larger schools. More detail on this is 

captured under item 7 below. 

 

4. Adjust the NTRC’s processes and procedures to be in line 

with the new Electronic Communications Act. 

 

This is incomplete as the act has not been proclaimed as 

yet. While the new processes were not implemented the 

NTRC has already developed them and is in a position to 

implement them whenever the new act is proclaimed.       

 

5. Work with the Ministry of Tourism to launch the Explore 

SVG app. 

During 2023, the NTRC completed the iOS and Android 

versions of the Explore SVG app (now the Discover SVG 

App). The Tourism Authority launched the iOS version on 

November 25th, 2023. The Android version of the app was 

completed in mid-December 2023. The apps are available 

for download in the Apple store and the Google play store. 

These apps will be maintained and improved by the NTRC 

going forward as per the requirements of the Tourism 

Authority. 
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6. Connect 160 needy households with wireless internet 

access at a subsidized price of $10 per month in our efforts 

to bridge the digital divide.  

The NTRC did not meet the target of 160. Eighty-nine 

applications were received. Seventy-Six (76) persons were 

approved and sent to C&W for connection of internet 

service. 

7. Replace 200 internet access points in our schools. 

While the original plan was to replace 200 existing access 

points the decision was taken to ensure that the service at 

each school was at a certain acceptable level. To achieve 

this, we decided to only work at 29 schools within this 

project phase (secondary and large primary schools) which 

involved replacing access points that were end of life and 

adding new access points to fill in coverage as well as 

capacity gaps. In 2024 the NTRC will seek to address the 

remaining schools that need new access points, which 

would mainly be some of the remaining primary schools. 

The 200 access points were installed at the following 

schools: 

1) Bishop’s College Kingstown 

2) Campden Park Secondary 

3) Division of Technical Services (SVGCC) 

4) Dr. J P Eustace Memorial 

5) Emmanuel High Secondary 

6) Emmanuel High Secondary Annex 

7) Intermediate High School 

8) St Joseph’s Convent K/Town 

9) St. Martin’s Secondary 

10) St. Vincent Grammar School 

11) Adelphi Secondary School 

12) Barrouallie Secondary 

13) Bequia Community High 

14) Bequia SDA Secondary 

15) Buccament Bay Secondary 

16) Canouan Secondary School 

17) George Stephens Secondary 

18) Mountain View S. D. A. 

19) North Union secondary 

20) Petit Bordel Secondary 

21) Sandy Bay Secondary 

22) St Joseph’s Convent Mespo 

23) St. Clair Dacon Secondary 

24) Troumaca Secondary  
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25) Union Island Secondary  

26) West St George Secondary 

27) C. W Prescod Primary 

28) St. Mary’s Roman Catholic 

29) Kingstown Preparatory School 

 

 

8. Work along with ECTEL and the other NTRC’s to complete 

the Regional Integrated Spectrum Management and 

Monitoring System.  

The objective is incomplete.  The Commission continues to 

work with ECTEL and Spectrum Center with regards to the 

implementation of the Regional Integrated Spectrum 

Management and Monitoring System which consists of the 

procurement of mobile spectrum analyzers and fixed 

monitoring units, spectrum management system software 

to automate our licensing processes and the purchasing 

spectrum monitoring vehicles.  The analyzer and fixed 

monitoring units have already been purchased and are in 

use.  During this year work continued on the spectrum 

management system software which saw the individual 

licensing workflow being developed but not yet tested.  

Additionally, the broadcasting, ship station and amateur 

radio platforms were developed but not yet completed.  

The type approval module is currently live and being used 

by applicants for the submission of type approval 

applications.  There are 9 modules remaining for 

completion.  These should be completed by the second 

quarter of 2024. 

9. Complete renovations of the Layne’s Building and relocate 

the NTRC’s office.  

This was not completed.  The contract for renovations 

started in April 2023 and was to end in October 2023. There 

were no valid reasons for the delay in completion and as 

such the NTRC has implemented the relevant provisions of 

the contract that relate to non-completion. As of December 

27, 2023, 95% of the internal works of the building were 

completed. All internal work should be completed by the 

second week of January 2024. Noting this, we believe it 

would be possible to relocate the NTRC’s office to the new 

location in February 2024. The main work items to be 

completed externally are the installation of the concrete 

pavers for the parking area, replace some of the roof 
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sheeting with new galvanize, construct a new garage for 

the spectrum monitoring vehicle, install the new gates and 

complete the external painting. 

 

 

10. Develop a prototype of the National Addressing system for 

approval by Cabinet.   

This objective is complete.  The Commission has developed 

a prototype of the National addressing system via a mobile 

app that will utilize existing as well as new datasets.  It is 

expected that it will be demonstrated to the Cabinet in the 

first quarter of 2024. 

11. Host two MyApp summer programs. 

This objective is complete. For 2023, the NTRC hosted the 

MyAPP summer program at two locations: one at the 

Bequia Anglican school from July 17-August 4, 2023, and 

the other at the St. Vincent Grammar School for the period 

July 31 – August 18, 2023. Twenty-eight (28) students took 

part in the St. Vincent grammar school program while 

sixteen (16) took part in Bequia. These annual summer 

programs target students in the 13-18 age group and 

expose them to coding(software) and robotic skills 

development. This year was an historic one for the program 

as it saw the tutor for the Grammer school event being a 

former student of the MyApp summer program and a 

current member of the robotics team from St. Vincent and 

the Grenadines (SVG) that finished 67th out of 191 countries 

in the 2023 First Global Challenge (FGC), which was held in 

Singapore from October 7th to 10th under the topic 

“Hydrogen Horizons.” 

12. Collaborate with SVGCC to update the curriculum in the 

Cyber Security programme. 

This is complete. The revised curriculum was sent to 

SVGCC on December 6, 2023. This final revision was 

based on feedback provided by the SVGCC on the earlier 

document that was developed by the multi stakeholder 

committee that was set up to undertake this objective. 

13. Create a new USF project for the disabled and elderly 

people requiring special equipment. 

This is incomplete. Some work was done on this objective 

in 2023. The main reason for it not being completed was 

the reduction in resources in the USF department during 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

46 

the period April to September. The USF administrator 

resigned at the end of March 2023 and the post was not 

filled until October 2023.  The tender documents for the 

project will be completed in the first quarter of 2024. 

 

14. Work along with the world bank funded Caribbean Digital 

Transformation Project (CarDTP) to help execute the 

project.   

This is complete. Apart from the NTRC participation at the 

level of the steering committee for this project it also 

provided feedback on a number of project reports during 

the year. The NTRC would have also attended a number of 

events and meetings held by consultants for the project. 
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21. MAJOR OBJECTIVES FOR     

2024 
 

1. Review and transform the icode784 competition. 

 

2. Sensitize the public regarding the provisions of the new 

Electronic Communications Act. 

 

3. Provide faster internet service in St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines by linking the Internet Exchange point (IXP) at 

Anos Vale to the cache servers located at the IXP in 

Grenada utilizing the Carcip Subsea fiber.  

 

4. Adjust the NTRC’s processes and procedures to be in line 

with the new Electronic Communications Act. 

  

                                                                 

5. Execute the National ICT Survey with a sample size of 

2000 persons.  

6. Connect 157 needy households with wireless internet access 

at a subsidized price of $10 per month in our efforts to 

bridge the digital divide. 

 

7. Improve and expand the Wi-Fi service in our schools. 

 

8. Work along with ECTEL and the other NTRC’s to complete 

the Regional Integrated Spectrum Management and 

Monitoring System. 

 

9. Relocate the NTRC’s offices to its new location at 

Richmond Hill. 

 

10. Seek approval of Cabinet for the prototype National 

Addressing system. 

 

11. Execute 2 MyApp summer programs with a minimum of 40 

students at Georgetown and Canouan. 

 

 

12. Implement an online system to process custom clearances 

for telecom equipment entering SVG. 
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13. Create a new USF project for the disabled and elderly 

people requiring special equipment. 

 

14. Provide support to the project management unit of the 

world bank funded Caribbean Digital Transformation 

Project (CarDTP).  

 

15. Upgrade 42 Police stations and 32 Health facilities with 

faster internet connectivity, more secure Wi-Fi Access 

points and network switches.  
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22. ANNEX A 
 

Year 

Cable and Wireless (SVG) Ltd 
Digicel 

St. Vincent Ltd 

Mobile Revenue (EC$) Fixed Line Revenue (EC$) 
Internet 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Other 
Revenue 

(EC$) 
Total 

Mobile Revenue (EC$) 
Data 

Revenue 
(EC$) 

Wireless 
Broadband 

Fiber 
Revenue 

Other 
Revenue 

(EC$) 
Total 

International 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Domestic 
Revenue 

(EC$) 
Data 

International 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Domestic 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

International 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Domestic 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

2015 5,903,184 12,111,499 3,856,314 9,191,006 7,260,629 11,293,878 13,538,133 63,154,643 8,228,861 24,925,939 11,744,242 -  2,281,117 47,180,159 

2016 4,933,623 10,956,825 5,953,812 7,972,142 4,530,629 10,095,725 13,111,144 57,553,900 7,255,741 20,279,266 10,005,882 -  3,246,756 40,787,645 

2017 4,473,280 11,150,180 6,364,611 7,248,770 4,590,826 9,380,845 11,361,659 54,570,171 5,463,415 14,457,219 7,651,828 3,853,901  3,893,933 35,320,297 

2018 4,603,877 10,126,414 4,827,236 6,005,519 6,845,051 8,546,939 8,673,672 49,628,708 3,992,783 13,822,888 7,959,954 1,932,179  4,603,037 32,310,841 

2019 2,787,350 10,293,842 3,670,590 3,499,230 4,861,314 6,677,711 15,433,625 47,223,662 3,874,269 5,208,742 14,313,203 2,765,289  10,757,764 36,919,267 

2020 2,320,523 10,035,726 3,391,436 2,909,222 3,976,666 7,519,795 16,485,281 46,638,649 4,078,895 5,342,143 13,754,435 3,220,693  11,709,747 38,105,914 

2021 2,056,645 12,676,211 3,093,918 2,205,640 3,415,083 9,550,165 7,106,341 40,104,003 3,200,781 6,579,524 13,445,218 3,074,575 1,072,971 6,760,901 34,133,970 

2022 3,856,356 12,817,995 2,822,727 892,147 2,931,947 9,049,206 8,141,791 40,512,169 3,330,716 6,816,998 14,707,811 2,794,780 2,427,020 4,072,380 34,149,704 

2023 4,439,867 15,355,386 1,521,776 848,254 1,599,620 7,528,690 5,204,969 36,498,562 3,355,852 8,822,435 13,820,338 4,380,592 7,323,069 4,079,136 41,781,420 

 

Table 1 Total Revenue earned by providers of telecommunications services from 2015 to 2023. 
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Year 

Kelcom Int’l (Columbus Communications) Silvakast 
Andre 
Walker 

Spectra 

Fixed Line Revenue (EC$) 
Cable TV 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Internet 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Other 
Revenue 

(EC$) 
Total 

Cable TV 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Voice 
Resale 
(EC$) 

Cable TV 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

Internet 
Revenue 

(EC$) 
Total International 

Revenue 
(EC$) 

Domestic 
Revenue 

(EC$) 

2015 
                  

29,078  

                   

81,807  

    

14,356,006  

            

6,971,898  

             

(161,302) 

        

21,277,487  

            

32,562  

                         

-    
 -  

                         

-    
 -  

2016 
                  

20,904  

                  

72,509  

       

14,911,491  

          

10,014,306  

               

103,164  

        

25,122,374  

            

67,453  

                         

-    

                              

-    

                         

-    
 -  

2017 
                    

11,944  
                  

35,736  
    

13,687,653  
         

13,499,405  
             

642,373  
         

27,877,110  
         

365,886  
             

54,039  
                              

-    
                         

-    
 -  

2018 
                              

-    
                         

372  
    

12,540,642  
         

17,569,206  
               

616,491  
         

30,726,711  
         

458,928  
          

433,252  
                              

-    
                         

-    
 -  

2019 
                  

32,407  

                  

68,593  

      

13,011,809  

         

19,548,473  

              

699,819  

          

33,361,101  

         

305,292  

            

145,891  

                  

23,023  

             

65,990  

                  

89,012  

2020 
               

204,020  

                

913,585  

     

11,765,329  

        

25,200,250  

           

(232,996) 

        

37,850,188  

          

379,218  

           

219,584  

                   

26,881  

           

103,853  

               

130,734  

2021 
                 

267,511  

           

1,947,509  

      

11,716,798  

         

25,722,614  

            

(167,956) 

       

39,486,476  

                        

-    

           

175,277  

                   

10,658  

           

139,335  

               

149,993  

2022 
                 

346,119  

           

3,345,319  

    

12,536,072  

          

26,911,036  

            

(137,922) 

       

43,000,624  

                        

-    

             

70,583  

                          

551  

            

106,881  

                

107,431  

2023 
               

333,080  

           

4,482,196  

    

12,065,045  

        

28,576,063  

         

(1,279,813) 

         

44,176,571  

                        

-    

            

143,516  

                              

-    

             

57,502  

                 

57,502  

 

Table 2 Total Revenue earned by providers of telecommunications services from 2015 to 2023. 
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Year 

NTRC 

Application 

fees 

Percent 

increase 

NTRC & ECTEL 

Frequency Fees 

Percent 

increase 

2004 8,800 73% 1,577,400 15% 

2005 10,300 17% 1,539,669 -2% 

2006 11,275 9% 1,681,560 9% 

2007 22,725 102% 1,245,183 -26% 

2008 13,325 -41% 1,906,089 53% 

2009 13,225 -1% 1,487,390 -22% 

2010 23,846 80% 1,392,962 -6% 

2011 16,109 -32% 1,723,158 24% 

2012 16,390 2% 2,055,433 19% 

2013 15,927 -3% 1,787,020 -13% 

2014 31,547 98% 1,748,588 -2% 

2015 25,617 -19% 2,681,489 53% 

2016 25,324 -1% 2,708,686 1% 

2017 22,473 -11% 2,226,562 -18% 

2018 27,685 23% 3,190,599 43% 

2019 28,199 2% 3,037,137 -5% 

2020 23,521 -17% 3,126,872 3% 

2021 27,074 15% 3,395,118 9% 

2022 43,093 59% 2,911,639 -14% 

2023 26,588 -38% 3,721,857 28% 

Table 3 displays the Revenue for ECTEL & NTRC collected for 2004 to 2023 
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Year License Fees Percent Increase 

2004 3,329,145 19% 

2005 3,421,159 3% 

2006 3,850,955 13% 

2007 4,301,521 12% 

2008 4,081,151 -5% 

2009 4,065,706 0% 

2010 4,034,096 -1% 

2011 3,886,912 -4% 

2012 3,756,898 -3% 

2013 3,638,128 -3% 

2014 4,146,265 14% 

2015 4,079,164 -2% 

2016 3,788,925 -7% 

2017 3,617,662 -5% 

2018 3,535,564 -2% 

2019 2,517,823 -29% 

2020 4,570,250 82% 

2021 3,740,171 -18% 

2022 3,927,195 5% 

2023 4,020,593 2% 

Table 4 shows the Licence Fees Collected from 2004 to 2023 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

53 

 

      2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018    2019 2020  2021  2022  
 

2023 

C
ab

le
 &

 W
ir

el
es

s 
(W

I)
 L

td
 

Fixed Line 
Subscribers 

Residential  14,443 13,139 19,329 20,169 15,866 12,652 11,862 10,070 9,188 3,821 1.349 322 

Business 4,531 5,554 4,252 4,437 4,475 7,440 7,357 1,440 1,427 1,184 780 332 

Total 18,974 18,693 23,581 24,606 20,341 20,092 19,219 11,510 10,615 5,005 2,129 654 

Internet 
Subscribers 

Dialup 224 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 0 0 

ISDN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

ADSL 
(Residential) 

7,336 7,628 8,055 8,790 8,752 6,500 5,780 3,052 2,605 859 353 
226 

ADSL 
(Business) 

1,982 2,227 2,317 2,479 2,469 4,682 707 599 567 380 199 
99 

Total 9,542 10,065 10,582 11,479 11,431 11,392 6,697 3,861 3,382 1,449 552 325 

Mobile 
Subscribers 

Post paid 3,186 3,325 3,648 4,128 4,427 5,272 5,836 3,617 3,662 8,649 12,668 15,500 

Prepaid 50,142 47,262 33,973 36,582 37,288 37,993 32,663 38,567 38,987 36,934 30,953 31,807 

Total 53,328 50,587 37,621 40,710 41,715 43,265 38,499 42,184 42,649 45,583 43,621 47,307 

D
ig

ic
el

 

Mobile 
Subscribers 

Post paid 4,806 4,932 5,410 5,595 5,516 5,491 4,047 5,354 5,354 5,429 4,803 5,485 

Prepaid 68,858 69,859 71,986 67,066 65,418 67,088 63,329 55,162 55,162 63,880 56,004 50,184 

Total 73,664 74,791 77,396 72,661 70,934 72,579 67,376 60,516 60,516 69,309 60,807 55,669 

Broadband 
subscribers 

Residential               513 0 1,627 3,297 4203 

Business               185 698  295 472 714 

Total               698 698 1,922 3,769 4,917 

C
o

lu
m

b
u

s 
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
s 

Cable TV 
Subscribers 

Residential 13,810 13,556 13,397 12,961 12,449 10,737 10,309 8,881 8,789 8,713 8,598 8,490 

Business 172 186 224                  

Free Service 166 163 96                  

 Total 14,148 13,905 13,717 12,961 12,449 10,737 10,309 8,881 8,789 8,713 8,598 8,490 

Internet 
Subscribers 

Residential 4,274 4,668 5,711 7,067 10,337 12,636 15,048 17,727 18,312 23,320 24,109 24,407 

Business 24 42 191 234 307 357 391 415 412 1,274 1,077 1,248 

Free Service 42 39 43                  
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Total 4,340 4,749 5,945 7,301 10,644 12,993 15,439 18,142 18,724 24,594 25,186 25,655 

Fixed Line 
Subscribers 

Residential 396 361 300 239 194 0 0 1,423 1,423 6,160 8,227 8,554 

Business 9 15 22 20 15 0 0 1 0 220 660 1,042 

Free Service 0 16 12 0 0 0 0 0 0      

Total 405 392 334 259 209 0 0 1,424 1,423 6,380 8,887 9,596 

Si
lv

aK
as

t 

Cable TV 
Subscribers 

Residential         122 244 278 112 115 0 0 0 

Business                   0 0 0 

Total         122 244 278 112 115 0  0  0 

Sp
ec

tr
a 

Cable TV 
Subscribers 

Residential                   2 0  

Business                        

Free Service                        

 Total                   2 0  

Internet 
Subscribers 

Residential                   111 81  

Business                   6 2  

Free Service                        

Total                   117 83  

 

 

Table 6 shows the subscriber data for the providers for 2012 to 2023 
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  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

 New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New  Renew New Renew 

Individual 

Type Licenses 

Fixed Public 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 1 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 

Internet Networks 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 0 0 N/A 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Subscriber Television 1 N/A 1 N/A 0 4 0 4 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 

Int’l Simple Voice Resale 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 

Mobile Cellular 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 1 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Public Radio paging 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Submarine cable 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Class type 

Licenses 

Private network/services 1 1 1 1 0 1 0 N/A 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 

Internet services 0 2 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Radio Broadcast 1 7 1 8 0 12 0 11 0 6 2 6 0 0 1 0 

Value Added Services 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Community radio 2 3 2 4 0 5 1 3 0 4 1 3 0 0 0 0 

Television Broadcast 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Maritime mobile 1 26 3 44 10 18 2 24 3 23 10 21 57 29 6 105 

Land mobile 10 20 12 28 2 17 4 18 7 19 6 21 8 23 7 28 

Aeronautical radio 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1 2 

Aircraft station 1 17 1 18 3 18 0 18 0 16 0 16 1 16 1 15 

Amateur Radio station 20 20 23 14 8 76 12 76 3 83 18 73 6 83 5 80 

Citizen Band radio 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 5 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 3 

Family Radio Band 2 1 1 1 0 2 0 2 1 0 1 1 4 2 1 6 

Ship Station 41 184 40 163 22 175 28 168 10 156 12 142 34 142 33 158 

Miscellaneous 

CPE Dealers reg. fee 5 18 5 20 6 22 2 25 1 19 3 18 3 16 2 16 

Exam Fees for Radio 

Operators 

0 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Type Approval fee 85 N/A 102 N/A 125 N/A 85 N/A 0 93 72 0 84 0 77 0 

Ship station Operators 16 28 18 30 6 22 26 17 6 34 46 19 0 57 0 1 

 Aircraft Station Operators 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 Table 7 outlines the number of licences issued from 2016 to 2023. The issued licences are broken down as new 

licences, issued in the specific year, and renewals of existing licences, first issued in 

 

 

previous years. 
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23. ANNEX B 
 Technical Definitions/Terminology 
 

CANTO Caribbean Association of 

National Telecommunication 

Organizations 

CANTO provides a platform for 

all Caribbean 

telecommunications operators 

to speak with one voice to 

policy makers, regulators and 

other stakeholders in 

the   sector in influencing the 

creation of a favorable business 

environment for all 

stakeholders. 

 

CIDA Canadian International 

Development Agency 

CIDA supports sustainable 

development in developing 

countries in order to reduce 

poverty and to contribute to a 

more secure, equitable and 

prosperous world. 

 

CITEL Inter-American 

Telecommunication 

Commission 

CITEL is an entity of the 

Organization of American 

States, it is the main forum in 

the hemisphere in which the 

governments and the private 

sector meet to coordinate 

regional efforts to develop the 

Global Information Society. 

CITEL endeavors to make 

telecommunications a catalyst 

for the dynamic development 

of the Americas by working 

with governments and the 

private sector. 

 

 

Coursera provides universal 

access to the world’s best 

education, partnering with top 

universities and organizations 

to offer courses online. Every 

course on Coursera is taught 

by top instructors from the 

world’s best universities and 

educational institutions. 

Courses include recorded 

video lectures, auto-graded 

and peer-reviewed 

assignments, and community 

discussion forums. When you 

complete a course, you’ll 

receive a shareable electronic 

Course Certificate. 

 

CTO Commonwealth 

Telecommunications 

Organization 

The (CTO) is a partnership 

between Commonwealth 

governments and 

telecommunications businesses 

to promote ICT in the interests 

of consumers, businesses, and 

social and economic 

development. It’s Program for 

Development and Training 

(PDT) is a unique program of 

training and expert assistance 

in every aspect of 

telecommunications for 

Commonwealth developing 

countries 
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CTU Caribbean Telecommunications 

Union 

CTU is the major 

Telecommunications policy 

organ in the Region, directed 

by Inter-Governmental 

specialized action under a 

special Agreement establishing 

the Union. 

 

Frequency The rate of a repetitive event. 

The standard unit for frequency 

is the hertz (Hz), defined as the 

number of events or cycles per 

second. The frequency of 

electrical signals is often 

measured in multiples of hertz, 

including kilohertz (kHz), 

megahertz (MHz), or gigahertz 

(GHz). 

GMDSS Global Maritime Distress and 

Safety System 

The GMDSS provides for 

automatic distress alerting and 

locating in cases where a radio 

operator doesn't have time to 

send an SOS or MAYDAY call. 

 

ITU International 

Telecommunication Union 

ITU works closely with all 

standards organizations to 

form an international uniform 

standards system for 

communication. 

 

Land 

Mobile 

A mobile service between base 

stations and land mobile 

stations, or between land 

mobile stations 

 

Maritime 

Mobile 

A mobile service between coast 

station and ship stations, or 

between ship stations, or 

between associated on-board 

communication stations; 

survival craft stations, and 

emergency position- Indicating 

radio beacon stations may also 

participate in this service. 

 

MMSI Maritime Mobile Service 

Identity 

MMSI are formed of a series of 

nine digits which are 

transmitted over the radio path 

in order to uniquely identify 

ship stations, ship earth 

stations, coast stations, coast 

earth stations, and group calls. 

These identities are formed in 

such a way that the identity or 

part thereof can be used by 

telephone and telex customers 

connected to the general 

telecommunications network 

principally to call ships 

automatically. 

 

Radio 

frequency 

spectrum 

That part of the 

electromagnetic Spectrum 

used for communications; 

includes frequencies used for 

AM- FM radio and cellular 

phones and television etc. 

 

Ship 

Station 

A Mobile station in the 

maritime mobile service 

Located on board a vessel 

which is not permanently 

moored, other than a survival 

craft station 

Spectrum “(Electromagnetic Spectrum) is 

an ordered array of the 

components of an emission or  

wave. Sound, Radio Frequency 

Spectrum, Infra-Red, Visible 

Light, Ultraviolet Rays, X-Ray 

etc. are all part of the 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

58 

Electromagnetic Spectrum in 

that order. 

 

Stations One or more transmitters or 

receivers or a combination of 

transmitters and receivers, 

including the accessory 

equipment, necessary at one 

location for carrying on a radio 

communication service, or the 

radio astronomy service 

 

Telecomm

unications 

Any transmission, emission or 

reception of signs, signals, 

writings, images and sounds or 

intelligence of any nature by 

wire, radio, optical or other 

electromagnetic systems. 

Universal 

Service 

universal service” includes the 

provision of –  

a. Public voice telephony. 

b. Internet access. 

c. Telecommunications 

services to schools, 

hospitals, and similar 

institutions and the 

disabled and physically 

challenged; or 

d. Other service by which 

people access efficient, 

affordable and modern 

telecommunications. 

 

 

 

USAID 

 
 
The US Agency for International 
Development 

  



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

59 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2023 

 



NATIONAL TELEGOMMUNICATIONS REGULATORY GOMMISSION
Kingstown
St. Vincent and the Grenadines

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT and
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 3{ ,2023

DEFREITAS & ASSOGIATES
Ghartered Accountants
P. O. Box 324
Suite 2OO, Griffith Gorporate Gentre
Beachmont, Kingstown
St. Vincent and the Grenadines
Tefephone = (7841 451-2065
Fax = (7841457-2160
E-mail : info@defreitas-consulting.com
WEBSITE : www.defreitas-consulting.com



NATIONAL TELECOM M U NICATIONS REG U LATORY COM MISSION
Kingstown, St. Vincent and the Grenadines

TABLE OF CONTENTS

General Information

Independent Auditors' Repoft

Statement of financial position

Statement of changes in fund balance

Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of cash flows

SignifiCant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

Page

2

3-4

5

6

7

8

9-2r

-1-



NATIONAL TELECOM M U NICATIONS REG ULATORY COM MISSION
Kingstown
St. Vincent and the Grenadines

General Information

Chairperson Mrs. Roxann Williams -, L,L.B (Hons.), LL,M.

Commissioners Mr. Sehon Marshall- MA, LLM

Mr. Petrus Gumbs - B.Sc.

Mr, Avalon Morris - CCNA, Microsoft System Engineer, Eta Fibre Installer 1

Mr. Ivo Carr - A Level

Director

Secretaly

Auditors

Solicitor

Bankers

Mr. Apollo Knights, B.Sc., M.Sc.

Mr. Apollo Knights, B.Sc., M.Sc.

DeFreitas & Associates - Chaftered Accountants

Mr. Joseph Delves

Bank of St, Vincent and the Grenadines

Registered Office 2nd Floor National Insurance Services Building

Upper Bay Street

Kingstown

St. Vincent and the Grenadines

-2-



suite 200, Griffith corporate cente
P.O. Box 324, Beachmont
Kingstown,
St. Vincent and the Grenadines
Tel: (784) 451-2065
Fax: (784) 457-21@
Email: info@defreitas-consulting.com
Website: www.defreitas-consulting.com

CHnnrnneo AccouNrANrs &
MnNA,cnMEr.n CoNsu-rnvrs

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Commissioners
The National Telecommunications Regulatory Commission

Repoft on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of National Telecommunications Regulatory Commission,
hereinafter referred to as "the Commission", which comprise the statement of financial position as at December
3L,2023, and the statement of changes in fund balance, statement of comprehensive income, and statement of
cash flows on pages 5 to 8 as well as the significant accounting policies and disclosure notes thereto on pages 9
to 21 for the year then ended.

In our opinion, except for the comments in Note 12 regarding the non-recognition of certain funds, the
accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Commission as at December 3L, 2023, and its financial peformance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the International Financial Repofting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs)"

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are fufther described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our repoft. We are independent of the Commission in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in St. Vincent and the Grenadines,
and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and IESBA Code, We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for these financial statements

Management and those charged with governance of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the IFRS for SMEs.

The responsibilities.include inter alia:

. The designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error;

. Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;

. Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and

. Assessing the Commission's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and the going concern basis of accounting unless management intends to
liquidate the Commission or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

4/cont'd...
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT. continued
To the members of National Telecommunications Regulatory Commission -
Repoft on the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended December 31-,2023

Auditors' responsibilities for these fi nancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' repoft that includes our
opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements,

Our primary responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements consistent with the International Ethics Standard Board for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code); and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditors' professionaljudgment and the
maintenance of professional skepticism throughout the audit. These procedures include:

. The identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error,

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting
estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation,
structure and content, including disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and
ascertain whether a material unceftainty exists relative to events and conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Organisation ability to continue as a going concern, If we conclude that a material
unceftainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' repoft to the disclosures in the
financial statements or if such disclosures are inadequate, modify our opinion, Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

The engagement paftner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Indira Narine.

/a'
a /rcroLd1,ea

February 27,2024

DeFreltas
& Associates
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NATIONAL TELECOM MU N ICATIONS REG U LATORY COMM ISSIO N
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2023
Comparatives as at December 3L,2022
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollar)

notes
2022

$
2023

$
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments

Total Current Assets
Deposit on investment propefi acquisition cost
Propefi, Plant and Equipment

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounb payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue - numbering fees
Due to Eastern Caribbean Telecommunication
Due to the Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines

Total current liabilities
Universal Service Fund
Long term loan

Total liabilities

Net Assets

7$52p72 7,4Lg,ggg

7
8
15

16
9

T4
2l
22
23

24
13

5,L09,402
252,508
437,22I

7,r03,35L
53,r75
1 1,54 1

5,7gg,l3L
1,o5o,ooo

803,841

7168,067
0

250,932

575,43I
98,739

787,036
2,324,627

165,650
98,335

255,L52
3,919,938

3,785,833
L,436,77L
L,092,r99

4,439,O75
2,532,788

150,000

613141803 7,L2r,963

1r338,169 297,t36

Represented By Fund Balance 1,338,169 297,136

The accompanying significant accounting policies and notes form an integral paft of these financial statements,

Approved for issue on February 2L, 2024 by the Commissioners and signed on their behalf by

Petrus Gumbs, B.Sc.
Commissioner
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NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N IGATI ONS REGULATORY COMM ISSION
Statement of Changes in Fund Balance
For the year ended December 31, 2023
Comparatives for the year ended December 3I,2022
(Expressed in Eastern Gribbean Dollar)

2023 2022
$$

Fund Balance - beginning of the year 297,136 272,330

Increase in net assets 1,041,033 24,806
(Totalcomprehensive income for the year)

Fund Balance - end of year 113381169 297,136

The accompanying significant accounting policies and notes form an integral paft of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N IGATIONS REGULATORY COMM ISSION
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2023
Comparatives for the year ended December 31,2022
(Expressed in Eastern C.aribbean Dollars)

notes

t7

2023
$

2022
$

Income by nature
Revenue
Other income

Total Revenue and other Income

Administrative Expenses

Earnings (Loss) from Operations

Interest Income
Gain (Loss) on disposal of motor vehicle
Government contribution to investment property

Totalcomprehensive income for the year

The following expense in included in the foregoing:
Depreciation

2,091,001
110,018

L,474,580
156,817

20

21191r019

(t,767,333)

tF3t,397

(1,673,455)

9
16

423,686

26,543
40,804

550,000

(42,058)

30,215
36,649

0

1,0411033 24$06

60,727 69,844

The accompanying significant accounting policies and notes form an integral paft of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL TELEGOM M U N ICATIONS REGULATORY COM M ISSION
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2023
Comparatives for the year ended December 3L, 2022
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean DollarS

2023
notes $

9
16

9
9

16
16

22
23

24
13

2022
$

Operating Activities:
Comprehensive income for the year

Non cash adjustments
Depreciation and Amortization

Interest Income
(Gain)/ Loss on disposal of motor vehicle

Government contribution towards investment property cost

Earnings (Loss) before changes in operating assets
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables

Decrease (increase) in prepayments

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue-numbering fees

Cash generated (used in) from operations
Interest received

Net cash generated (used in) from operating activities

Investment activities:
Proceed from the sale of motor vehicle
Acquisition of equipment
Deposits towards the acquisition of the investment property
Government contribution towa rds the investment property acq uisition

Net cash generated (used in) from investment activities

Financing activities:
Increase (decrease) - due to Eastern Caribbean Telecommunication Authority
Increase (decrease) - due to the Government of St' Vincent and the
Grenadines

Increase (decrease) - Universal Senrice Commission

Increase in long term loan

Net cash generated (used in) from financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash position for the period
Cash at beginning of period

1,041,033

60,727

(26,543)
(40,804)

(550,000)

24,806

69,844
(30,215)

(36,649)
0

484,4L3
(199,333)
(425,680)

409,78r
404

27,786
(9,679)
(2,Lzr)
66,098

(141)

2691585 811943
26,543 30,21s

296,r28 112,158

60,r27
(632,959)

(1,050,000)
550,000

55,000
(41,939)

0
0

(t,o72,832) 13,061

531,884
(1,595,311)

(1,096,017)

942,r99

(259,391)
r,374,347

468,455

150,000

('-217245) t,733,4t1

(L,993t949) 1,858,630
7,LO3,35r 5244t72!

Cash at end of period 51o9,4O2 7,tO3F5l

The accompanying significant accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

-8-



T.TNTIONNI TELECOM M U N IGATIONS REGULATORY COM M ISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 3t,2023

Table of Gontents

Page Note Description

10 1 Legal Status

10 2 PrincipalActivities

10 - 11 3 Basis of Presentation

11 - 14 4 Significant Accounting Policies

15 5 CriticalAccounting Estimates and Judgements

15 6 Financial Instruments

15 7 Cash and Cash Equivalent t

16 8 Trade and Other Receivables

L6 - L7 9 Proper[y, Plant and Equipment

t7 10 Capitalisation

L7 11 Income Tax

17 - .18 LZ Related Party Transactions

19 13 Long-term Loan

19 L4 Accounts Payable and Accruals

19 15 Prepayments

19 16 Deposit on investment property acquisition cost

20 t7 Revenue

20 18 Staff Pension

20 19 Staff Cost

2L 20 General and Administrative Expenses

21 2L Deferred Revenue

22 22 Due to Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority

22 23 Due to Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines

22 24 UniversalSeruice Fund

22 25 Commitments

22 26 Foreign Exchange Risk

22 27 Interest Rate Risk

-9-



3.

3.1

NATIONAL TELEGOMMUNIGATIONS REGULATORY COMM ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

1. Legal Status

The NationalTelecommunications Regulatory Commission (the "Commission") was established by the
Telecommunications Act (CAP 418) of the Revised Laws of St. Vincent and the Grenadines of 2009 (the
"Act").The Commission commenced operations on November 1, 2001.

These financial statements were approved by the Commissioners on February 2I,2024.

2. Principal Activities

The Commission principal activities are to collect all fees under the Act and to effectively regulate
telecom m u n ications services

3.3

Basis of Presentation

Since no "Going Concern" issues were identified, these financial statements have been prepared
assuming that the Commission will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the financial
statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of recorded
asset amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities or any other adjustments that might be
necessary should the Commission be unable to continue as a going concern.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards for Small and Medium Entities (IFRS for SMEs) adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board. Since there are regular amendments and new interpretations to these IFRS, some of
which became effective prior to 2023 and others in 2023 and future years, management and those
charged with governance normally review the applicable amendments and new interpretations to ensure
repofting compliance with IFRS, except otherwise stated under different disclosure notes.

Consistent with IFRS for SMEs, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Fund
accounting principles, under the restricted Fund method of accounting, where applicable in the
circumstances, which contemplates the collective procedures resulting in a self-balancing set of
accounts for each Fund established by legal, contractual or voluntary actions of the board of
commissioners. The restricted Fund method of accounting considers the details of financial statement
elements by each Fund in such a way that the Commission repofts total general Fund of one or more
restricted Funds.

These financial statements are stated in Eastern Caribbean Currency on the historical cost basis. The
preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS for SMEs requires management and
those in charge with governance to make estimates and assumptions, as set out in Note 5 following,
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period.

Notwithstanding IFRS for SMEs, there are two notable standards that are considered in the preparation of
these financial statements, namely: IFRS 9, financial instruments; and IFRS L5 Revenue from contracts
with customers.

3,2
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NATIONAL TELECOM MU N ICATI ONS REGU LATORY GOMM ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

3. Basis of Presentation - continued

o IFRS 9, 'Financial Instrumenfs', The IASB recently released IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' (2014),
representing the completion of its project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement'. The new standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39's guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new 'expected credit loss'
model for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the
application of hedge accounting. The assessed the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements.
The new standard is required to be applied.for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018.

. 'FRS 75, 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers'.IFRS 15 presents new requirements for the
recognition of revenue, replacing IAS 18'Revenue', IAS 11 'Construction Contracts', and several
revenue-related interpretations. The new standard establishes a control-based revenue
recognition model and provides additional guidance in many areas not covered in detail under
existing IFRSS, including how to account for arrangernents with multiple performance
obligations, variable pricing, customer rights, supplier repurchase options and other common
complexities. IFRS 15 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

These financial statements are expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars presented on a comparative basis.
The financial statements for the 2022 reporting (comparative) period were reclassified, where
appropriate, for presentation purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statements of financial position and cash flow comprise cash
on hand and cash held at banks,

Signifi cant Accounting Pol icies

Basis of Accounting and the Use of Estimates

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accrual method of accounting,
under the historical cost convention, consistent with international accounting standards. Conformity with
these standards requires management and those charged with governance to make estimates and
assumptions. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those reported.

Under the accrual method of recording transactions, revenue and expenses are reflected in the financial
statements in the period in which they are earned and incurred, respectively, whether or not such
transactions have been finally settled by receipt or payment of cash or its equivalent.

Likewise, assets and liabilities are reflected in the financial statements in the period in which they are
acquired and where there is a legal or constructive obligation, respectively, whether or not such
transactions have been finally settled by payment of cash or its equivalent.

3.6

3.7

4,

4.L
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NATIONAL TELECOM M U N ICATI ONS REGULATORY GOM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

4,

4.2

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Revenue and Cost Recognition

r Frcquency Fees
Revenue from frequency fees is recognised in operations when the budget for the financial year is
approved by the Council of Ministers.

o Application Fees
Application fees are recognised in operations'in the period of application.

. Numbering Fees
Numbering fees are recognised in operations on an accrual basis. Numbering fees are accounted for
on a uniformed basis over the term of coverage.

o Interest on Financial Investments
Interest on financial investments is recognised on an acciual basis using the effective rate method.

o Administrativeexpenses
Expenses are recognised at the time of receipt of the goods and services and/or at the time of
transfer of ownership to the Commission, whichever is the earliest,

Financial Instruments

Recoonition, Initial Measurement and Derecoonition

Financial assets are recognized when the Commission becomes a pafi to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, Financial

assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement

The Commission's financial assets are classified as receivables. Receivables are non-derivative flnancial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted rh an active market. After initial
recognition, these receivables would be measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment, Discounting would be omitted when the effect of discounting is immaterial,

All financial assets would be reviewed for impairment (expected credit loss) at least at each repofting
date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets are impaired

Translation of Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Eastern Caribbean dollars at
rates prevailing at the end of the financial year, except for capital assets, which are recorded at historical
cost, All revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated, using the prevailing
exchange rates at the date of the transactions, except for depreciation, which is based on the historical
cost. Realized and unrealized translation gains or losses arising on the settlement or conversion of foreign
currency denominated balances are reflected in the earnings for the reporting period, in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards for Financial Instruments,

4.3

4.4

-12-



NATIONAL TELECOM MU N ICATI ONS REGULATORY COM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

4,

4.5

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Propefi, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

The various pieces of equipment are stated at amortized cost net of depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. When pafts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of equipment.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the expenditure will flow to the Commission.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of equipment less the estimated residual values
using the reducing balance method over the useful lives and is generally recognised in operations.

Fixtures and fittings
Motor vehicle Mo Computerc Eo/o

4.6

The cost of fixed assets replaced retired or otherwise disposed of, and the accumulated depreciation
thereon is eliminated from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss reflected in the operations. The
periodically appraises these assets, to asceftain their salvage values, which consider replacement cost of
the used assets, market conditions and other circumstances in making such estimates and valuation.
Generally, any salvage value in excess of book value is reflected in the carrying value of capital assets
and appraisal surplus and/or other appropriate capital account is credited with that amount. Likewise, any
diminution in previously established salvage value is charged against appraisal surplus and/or other
capital account as deemed appropriate under the circumstances.

Trade and Other Accounts Receivable

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, An allowance for
impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Commission
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the allowance is the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognized in the statement of operations within
general and administrative expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against general and administrative expenses in the profit or loss.

Trade Payables

Trade payables are recognized initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.

Lease Payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in operations on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease
expense, over the term of the lease.

4.8
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NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N ICATI ONS REGULATORY COM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern C.aribbean Currency

4. Significant Accounting Policies - continued

4.9 Defened Revenue

Revenues received from telecommunication service providers for use central office code are deferred and
are amortized over the period of coverage,

4.10 fnvestmentSecurities

Investment securities in which the Commission does not exercise significant influence are measured are
accounted for by the cost method, Any impairment to the carrying value, where the decline of an
investment is other than temporary, is charged against operations. Investment securities in which the
Commission exercises significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.

4.11 Impairment of Non- FinancialAssets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amoftization are assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication that an asset
may be impaired, the carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
If any impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the

'revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in operations.

4.I2 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when there is present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past and
potential future events, it is more than likely that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be
made,

-14-



NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N ICATIONS REGULATORY GOM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 31,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

5. CriticalAccounting EstimatesandJudgements

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Commission makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below. .

5.1 Estimated Impairment of Assets

The Commission tests annually whether assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in significant accounting policies section.

5.2 Allowance for Impaired Trade Receivables

The Commission reviews the status of its trade receivables each reporting date, after the direct write off of
known uncollectible accounts, and assesses the likelihood of recovery, individually and collectively based on
historic experience. The allowance for impaired trade receivables is estimated by applying loss percentages
which approximate loss experience to the arrears status of the trade receivable accounts.

6. Financial Instruments
2022

$
2023

$
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortized cost less impairment

Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities measured at amortized cost

7. Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash on hand
Current account
Saving account

Unrestricted
Restricted
Savings account- Universal Seruice Fund

51361r910

51123r966

7tL56F27

6,873F28

2023 2022
$$

L,244
L24,2BI

3,552,468

732
L9,425

5.318.608

3,677,993

1,431,409

51338r765

t,764,586

-15-
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NATIONAL TELECOM MU N IGATI ONS REGULATORY COM M ISS ION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

8. Trade and Other Receivables

Trade Receivable
Due from Universal Seruice Fund
Government grant
Other Receivables

Frequency fees
License fees
IXP fees

Property, Plant and Equipment
2023 Financial Year

Fixture
and

Fittings
$

2023
$

2022
$

1,600
630

250,000
278

43,606
668

0
8.901

252,508 53,175

On behalf of the Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines, ECTEL and Southern Caribbean Fiber, the
Commission, invoices and collects from telecommunication operators' frequencies, license and IXP fees, and
remits the collections therefrom to the aforementioned principals. The operations surrounding those fees,
including the amounts due from telecommunication operators, as of repofting date, are not included in these
financial statements.

2022
$

2023
$
161,090
66,624

543,434
L7,964

3,782 8,824

23t,496 57O,222

9.

Furniture
and

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicle

$
Computer

$

Total

$
Il,867
10,4L6

LB3,3t7
460,845

2I7,sLL
139,349

(92,L4t)

322,097
22,349

734,792
632,959
(92,t41)

22,283 644,162 264,719 344,446 L,275,6LO

As of January I, 2022
Additions
Disposal

As of December 31-,2023

Depreciation
As ofJanuary L,2022
Disposal

Charge for the year

As of December 3I,2023
Net Book Value
As of December 31,2022

As of December 3t,2023

10r606

189

t43,633

8,614

93,061
(72,818)

24,890

236,560

27,034

483,860
(72,818)

60,727

10r795 L52,247 45,133 263,594 47rt769

1,261 39,684 1,24,45O 85,537 25O,932

491,915LL,487

.{6-
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NATIONAL TELECOM MU N ICATI ONS REGULATORY GOM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Currency

9. Propefi, Plant and Equipment - continued

2022 Financial Year

Fixture
and

Fittings
$

Furniture
and

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicle

$
Computer

$
Total

s
IL,867 L77,548

^ 5,769
296,773

8,244
(87,506)

294,L7L
27,926

780,359
4L,939

(87,506)

Lt,867 183,317 2t7,sLl 322,O97 734,792

As of January I,202L
Additions
Disposal

As of December 3L,2O22
Depreciation
As ofJanuary I,202L
Disposal
Charge for the year

As of December 31, 2O22
Net Book Value

As of December 31-,2O2I

As of December 31.,2022

10,384

222

r33,719

9,9t4

131,103
(69,155)

31,1 13

207,965

28,595

4B3,r7l
(69,1ss)

69,844
1O,606 r43,633 931061 236,560 483r86O

L,483 43,829 L6s$7O 861206 297,L88

11.

1,261 39,684 124,45O 85,537 25Ot932

10. Capitalisation

The Commission was established by the Telecommunications Act (CAP 418) of the Revised Laws of St.
Vincent and the Grenadines of 2009 (the "Act"). The Commission commenced operations on November 1,

2001. The Commission has no share capital and is mandated to carry out activities without pecuniary gain to
its commissioners and any profits or other accretions are to be used in furthering its undertaking,

12.

Income Tax

The Commission is exempt from the payment of income tax in accordance with section 25 of the Income Tax
Act (CAP 435) of St, Vincent and the Grenadines, as revised,

Related Party Tra nsactions

A party is related to the company if:

(a) directly or indirectly the pafi: (1) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the
company; (2) has an interest in the company that gives it significant influence over the
company; or (3) has joint control over the company;

(b) The party is a member of the key management personnel of the company;

(c) The pafi is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (1) or (2); and

(d) The party is in a pot employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees in the company or
company that is a related pafi of the company,

-17-



NATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS REGULATORY GOMMISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

12. Related Pafi Transactio[s - continued

In the normal course of business, the Commission administers a bank account for the Universal Service Fund
(USF) and collects revenue on behalf of the Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority (ECTEL) and
the Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines (GOSVG), Remittances are made on a periodic basis. This
has resulted in the following

Key Management Compensation
Key management comprises of Commissioners, the Director of the entity and the Secretary of the
Commission. Compensation of these individuals are as follows: -

2023
$

2022
$

Salaries
Allowances
National Insurance contributions
Pension contributions

Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines (GOSVG)
Revenue collected on behalf of GOSVG
Remittances made to GOSVG

The Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority (ECTEL)
Revenue collected on behalf of ECTEL
Remittances made to ECTEL

Universal Seruice Fund (USF)
Contributions collected on behalf of the USF

Interest income received on behalf of the USF behalf of the USF
Other income collected on behalf of the USF

Penalties
Reimbursements
Subvention from GOSVG
Banks charges paid on behalf of the USF
Expense reimbursements
Project payments made on behalf of the USF

t57,724
68,400

2,860
8,800

I47,427
68,380

2,860
8,546

23Lt784 227,2r3

In the normal course of business, the Commission administers a bank account for the Universal Service Fund
(USF) and collects revenue on behalf of the Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority (ECTEL) and
the Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines (GOSVG), Remittances are made on a periodic basis. This
has resulted in the following:

2022
$

2023
$

4,020,593
5,615,903

3,721,957
3,LBg,g72

2,497,543
25,425
37,590

46L,2t7
Lr,799

0
380

365,389
3,763,892

3,927,L95
2,552,683

2,gLt,639
3,171,180

2,557,658
27,L43
17,27L

184,864
163,089
27L,lgg

274
590,166

2,L63,027

There are ceftain funds outstanding from Kelcom/Columbus in the amount of $91 ,510 and Southern
Caribbean Fibre in the amount of $27,798 that are not recognized as revenue and receivable in these
financial statements.

.{8-



NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N ICATI ONS REGULATORY COM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

13. Long Term Loan

On July 25,2022, the Commission negotiated a Commercial Moftgage loan in the amount of $1,1 million
with the Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines (Bank) for the purpose of acquiring a propefi from
Rondon Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act of St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and
to carry out renovations thereto.

This loan attracts interest at the rate of 5.50 percent per annum and is repayable in monthly blended
payments of $9,000 over 180 months. Notwithstanding the property was not conveyed to the Commission
as at the year-end date, the Bank advanced to the Commission $150,000 in the 2022 reporting period and
$942,t99 in the current repofting period, which is reflected in the Statement of Financial Position,

14. Accounts Payable and Accruals
2023 2022

$$
Accounts payable
Advance payment of fees
Payroll accruals
Other liabilities

443,044 93,224
4,810 4,810

25,465 15,930
L02,Lr2 51,686

575,431 165,650

15. Prepayments

Expenses
Investment propefi renovation cost

2L,742 11,541
415,479 0

437,221 11,541

16. Deposit on investment propefi acquisition cost

Payments towards investment property acquisition cost 110501000 0

. There is an agreement dated February L,2023 between Rondon Limited (Vendor) and the National
Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (Purchaser) in respect to a property known as "Shamrock
Lodge" located at Murray's Road (Richmond Hill), Kingstown in St. Vincent and the Grenadines
admeasuring thirteen thousand four hundred and eighty-one square Feet (13,481 sq, ft,) with buildings
thereon.

o The sale/purchase price is $1.5 million dollars, payable in five (5) installments, inclusive of the initial
deposit of one hundred and fifty thousand dollars paid in February 2023, and the additional nine hundred
thousand dollars due before the end on the current financial year with the final installment of two
hundred thousand dollars due on January 3t,2025.

. This deposit is funded by debt as indicated in note 13 above and a contribution of five hundred and fifty
thousand dollars from the Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines.

2023 2022
$$

2023 2022
$$

-19.



NATIONAL TELECOM MU N ICATIONS REGULATORY GOM M ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

17. Revenue

Government grants
Application fees
Numbering fees
Spectrum fees

Adm inistrative sa la ries, wages and Nationa I Insu rance contri butions
Gratuity
Staff allowances
Other staff benefits
Pensions contribution

Number of employees at reporting date

2022
$

2023
$

500,000
26,757

118,731

0
43,L34

rtg,2L6
1,435,513 1,313,230

210811001 1,474,58,0

18. StafrPension

The Commission is committed, under a defined contribution plan agreement, dated June 19, 2019, to
contributing 60/o of employees' salary to a pension plan. Employees are required to contribute 4olo of their
pensionable salary to the pension plan. The pension plan's trust deed is effective from June L,20t3.

The Plan was approved by the Comptroller of the Inland Revenue Department on March 23,2020 and
audited as a separate entity from the Commission for the year ended May 31, 2023,

19. StaffCost
2022

$
2023

$

875,t20 811,716
13,306 L2,746
87,r33 83,863

73 2,693
36,510 34,458

l,or2,''42 945,476

18
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NATIONAL TELEGOM MU N ICATI ONS REGULATORY GOMM ISSION
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

20. General and Administration Expenses

Expenses by nature

Adveftising and promotion
Audit fees
Bank charges
Cleaning

Commissioners' allowances
Computer financing p@ect
Contribution to staff pension
Courier
Depreciation
Electricity expense
Electricity -remote monitoring site
Financing initiatives
Gratuity
Hosting fee-remote monitoring site
Insurance expense
Legal fees
Loan Expense
National insurance contributions

.Pension expense
Periodicals
Professional fees
Rent
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries and other staff benefits
Staff allowances
Staff Christmas dinner and awards
Staff Jerseys
Stationery and office supplies
Contribution/su bscri ption
Telephone, fax and internet
Internet- remote monitoring site
Training
Travel and enteftainment

2022
$

2023
$

65,191
8,700
3,826
2,847

55,080
4t,0t2
36,510
6,748

60,727
35t942

320
19,2L7
13,306
9,000

14,568
10,800
38,182
26,996

5,500
3,037

20,L44
t07,t57

41,222
B4B,L22
87,r33
39,719

73
34,275
35,970
t3,957
4,943

76,787
322

28,773
8,700
3,992
2,547

55,180
90,030
34,458

69,844
31,328

300
6,245

12,746
9,000
7,299

10,800
7,645

26,240
5,000
2,805
5,050

r07,r57
39,73r

785,476
83,863
77,898
2,693

23,966
37,010
11,845
5,92r

79,35L
s63

r,767,333 L$73,455

21. Deferred Rev-€nue

Deferred revenue relates to amounts received during the year for numbering fees applicable to the period
subsequent to the repofting date.
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Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 3L,2023
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

22. Due to Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority

The amount due to the Eastern Caribbean Telecommunications Authority (ECTEL), an advisory
organisation to the Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States, including the Commission, represents
frequency fees collected on its behalf and yet to be remitted as of reporting date.

23. Due to Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines:

This amount represents unremitted license fees collected on behalf of the Government of St, Vincent and
the Grenadines

24. UniversalSeruiceFund

The amount due to the Universal Service Fund, a separate fund created under the Telecommunication
Act 2009, is non-interest bearing, The Commission is responsible for the administration of the fund.
Neither the assets nor liabilities, nor operations, nor cash flows of the Universal Service Fund are included
in these financial statements.

25. Commitment

Under an operating lease dated November 30,2022, the commission is committed to a monthly rental of
$9,514.90 for office accommodation.

26. Foreign Exchange Risk:

The Commission is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing exchange rates on its financial
position and cash flows, Management assefts that exchange risk is minimal as transactions are conducted
in Eastern Caribbean Currency.

27. Interest Rate Risk:

Differences in maturities of re-pricing dates of financial instruments create an interest rate gap and may
expose the company to interest rate risk. Management does not believe significant interest rate risks
existed at the year-end date.
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